
SETTLEMENT PAPERS DEPOSITED IN LINCOLNSHIRE ARCHIVES 
This document is an alphabetical list of the information taken from the settlement papers etc found in the Horsington Parish Chest. 

NAME DATE KEY INFORMATION

Arnold John 12-05-1723 SC From Church Warden& Overseers of the poor of the parish of FULLETBY 
acknowledging John Arnold his Wife and Family to be settled in FULLETBY

Atkinson John  
(Blacksmith)

26-06-1819 SE (born INGHAM 1777) At 9 years of age bound apprentice to  John Heyworth of 
BRATTLEBY served 7 years under terms of Indenture.

Baker Fanny 29-02-1828 BB Was delivered of a female bastard child at HORSINGTON,  Father William Elvin of 
TETFORD Schoolmaster. Ordered t pay £1 10s to parish for birth expenses and 2s 
6d per week upkeep.  Fanny Baker to pay 6d in case she shall not nurse and take 
care of said child.

Bannister Edward 12-06-1817 SE (born EDLINGTON 1793) Stated previous to Mayday 1813 hired by John Grayson 
of REEVESBY. In 1814 hired by John Birkinshaw of HORSINGTON as a 
‘’Confirmed Labourer for a year and that the agreement between him and his master 
was that he should have a house and garden, the sum of a cow and two pigs on his 
masters farm at HORSINGTON aforesaid and £20 as his wages and that he now 
lives with said John Birkinshaw

Bell Richard 19-06-1813 SC (born STURTON Notts 1790) Previous to May Day 1809 hired by William Harrison 
of BULLINGTON for 1 year

  

KEY:  SE - Examinations: SC - Certificates;  BB – Bastardy info: IND – Indentures: RO – Removal Orders



Becton James 29-03-1805 SE Saith he is 29yrs of age born in the parish of HATTON.  Heard and believed tht his 
last legal place of settlement is at HORSINGTON having, when 22 years of age or 
thereabout been hired by Joseph Turner of Horsington aforesaid farmer, as his 
servant for 1 year from Old Mayday to Old Mayday the following year at the wages 
of 13 guineas

Blackburn William 09-09-1826 SE ( born BARDNEY 1797) Legal settlement  of his parents is the parish of MINTING, 
1817 hired by Mr Robert Thorpe of BUCKNALL (Farmer) he then worked as a 
labourer in different places for the space of 2 years when he married.

Blades Joseph 18-08-1826 SE (Born 1801 in HORSINGTON) He has lived in various places as a servant in 
husbandry and that in the year 1821 he was hired by Francis Richardson of 
EDLINGTON farmer

Blakewell Robert 27-06-1807 SE In the year 1798 he was hired by Benjamin Silverwood of SNELLAND for 1 year

Boades William 04-09-1805 SC From CW AN Overseer of the Poor HALTHAM acknowledging WB wife and Family 
to be legally settled in HALTHAM

Boll John 05-07-1795 SC From CW and Overseer of the Poor of RADBOURN acknowledging JB Mary his 
wife and John & Elizabeth their children to be legally inhabitants of RADBOURN

Bonner Robert 06-12-1757 SC FromCW & Overseers of Poor of Parish of NORTH KYME acknowledging RB and 
Alice his wife to be legally settled in the parish of NORTH KYME

Borrill Jane 23-12-1826 RO Jane wife of William Borrill of CONINGSBY and Rebecca their daughter ordered to 
return to CONINGSBY

  



Borrill John 24-12-1841 SE (born CONINGSBY 1799) Parents legally settled in parish of Horsington. I have not 
been out in service as to gain settlement as I believe I was bad of sight and was put 
out amongst the farmers there. I was 3 years and a half with Mr Smalley. I did not let 
myself.  There was a meeting called and I was let at the meeting and many poor 
boys beside me.  I had no wages and my master gave me what he pleased and the 
parish fined him for taking me, Mr Birkinshaw of HORSINGTON aforesaid then 
took me in the same way. I went a little bit after Mayday and stopped ‘tll the May 
Day following. I then went to work for Mr Thomas Dickinson of TATTERSHALL but 
did not let myself to him by the year and lodged with my Father-in-law at 
TATTERSHALL THORPE. I was married at TATTERSHALL church to my present 
wife Martha and have 2 children living. Benjamin 11 yrs and Charles 6 yrs. Since I 
married I have never paid more than £6 a year for my house.  I have never rented a 
tenement of £10 a year nor done any other act whereby to gain settlement in my 
own right. I believe my father gained his settlement at HORSINGTON by hiring and 
service. He died when I was very young leaving a widow and 3 children. The parish 
of HORSINGTON maintained us until we could earn out our own living. My mother 
married again and got to belong to another parish.  I have a brother William Borrill 
now living in HORSINGTON. He became chargeable to the parish and they have 
done a deal for him as he has a large family. I am now together with my wife and 
children chargeable to the hamlet of TATTERSHALL THORPE.  

  



Barratt John re 
Borrell John

18-01-1842 SE I am about 66 years of age and 32 years ago (1810) on 11th December I was 
married at CONINGSBY to Elizabeth Borrill widow of John Borrill of CONINGSBY 
labourer whose settlement I believe was at that time in the Parish of 
HORSINGTON.  At the time I married she had 3 children John, William and 
Rebecca Borrell living with her at CONINGSBY and they were at that time receiving 
relief from the overseers of HORSINGTON being 2/- a head.              
After I married her I received 6/- a week of the overseers of HORSINGTON being 
2/- each for the maintenance of each of Borrill’s children This sum I received off Mr 
Smalley from December when I married her to Lady Day following being then with 
my wife and her 3 children resident in the parish of CONINGSBY.  I then removed 
into the Fen and lived 2 years with my wife and her 3 children in the parish of 
BOLINGBROKE and I received 6/- a week off the Overseers of HORSINGTON for 
the, maintenance of Borrill’s children the whole of that time, I used to go over to 
HORSINGTON once a quarter and received the money off the overseers Mr 
Hannah and Mr Addison.  After leaving the Fen I went to live at TATTERSHALL 
THORPE and whilst living there I also received relief for the 3 children fron the 
Overseers of HORSINGTON for 2 years. The last money received was half a 
guinea off Mr Burkinshaw for the pauper John Borrill for keeping him the last 
winter.  After that he did for himself.

Bowering Anne 14-05-1831 RO To BOSTON Wife of William Bowering  of BOSTON plus Elizabeth 3yrs, William 
2yrs and Kingston 18 mths, her children

Bowering Ann 05-07-1834 RO To BUCKNALL being now with child or children which child or children are likely to 
be born a bastard or bastards and the said Ann Bowering being poor.

  



Bowering Edward 18-12-1830 SE (born HORSINGTON 1805) born at HORSINGTON where my parents are legally 
settled as I have been informed and believe. I have lived in several places as a 
servant in husbandry and about a fortnight before Mayday in the year 1821 I let 
myself to William Smalley of Horsington (Farmer) to be his servant in husbandry 
for 1 year with whom I lived the whole of that year and received my full years 
wages. I do not remember that I had any holiday for that year.  Since that time I 
have not served a whole year in any one place nor have done any other act etc,

Bowering Edward 05-01-1833 RO Order made for removal from BARDNEY to HORSINGTON for EB his wife Mary 
Frances 2 yrs and Rose Ann 9 weeks.

Bowering Mary 15-03-1850 SE Containing Examination of her father Cornelius Bowering as to her legal place of 
settlement. Naming the Hamlet of NEWBALL (Mothers name Elizabeth m Nov 
1814) 
Mary Bowering is said to be receiving relief from the parish of HORSINGTON for a 
sickness that is such as will produce permanent disability. 
Order is made for removal to NEWBALL.  Bill dated 25-03-1850 from Richard 
Clitherow Clerk to the justice for the examination of Cornelius Bowering and 
removal notice etc £2-10s-6d. 

BURIEL REGISTER entry No 193 11-08-1858 Mary Bowering Horsington aged 29.

Bradshaw Edward 13-10-1785 SC From chwdn. and Overseer of parish of HEMINGBY acknowledging EB his wife and 
Family to be legally settled in the parish of HEMINGBY

  



Bradshaw John 10-03-1832 SE (born Nettleton 1790) When I was about 12 years I was bound apprentice to Robert 
Brant of ROTHWELL for 7 years. Served 2 years when my master failed and my 
indenture were transferred for the remainder of the term to John Rowbuck of 
GREAT LIMBER and served him for 5 years when I went away from my master to 
work as a Journeyman Blacksmith at KELSTERN for 4 months. Worked in 
LONDON, CANTERBURY and several other places in different Counties as a 
journeyman but never let myself by the year. 
About 5 years ago I came to live at BOSTON, hired a house, Blacksmith shop and 
premises in PENN STREET off Mr Cartwright  
the ships chandler at the yearly rent of £15. Occupied for 1 1/2 years. I then 
removed to LEAKE where I hired a house from Lady Day 1830 to Lady Day 1831 off 
Mr William Barton of LEVERTON (farmer) at the rent of £5-5s per annum and also 
a shop from John Allgirth of LEAKE (Farmer) at the yearly rent of £5.  I occupied 
both house and shop for nearly 2 years.  I left that parish about 9 weeks ago and 
came to reside at HORSINGTON.

Brader Samuel 07-02-1834 SE In 1834 hired by Richard Wilson for 1 year at £9 per year + 2 ½ crown fastening 
Penny and 3 days holidays.  Started on the Mayday because MR Wilson wanted 
him to’’ fetch the girl from Stixwould Ferry.’’ 
Appeal against removal of SB his wife Elizabeth and 2 children George 4 yrs and 
Robert 2 yrs. from SCAMBLESBY to HORSINGTON

Brice Robert 20-10-1769 SC From CWdn and overseer of the parish of SCAMBLESBY acknowledging RB and 
Ann his wife to be legally settled in the parish of SCAMBLESBY.

Brooks Robert 06-03-1806 SE (Born SIBSEY 1791) 27-9-1806 he was bound apprentice by indenture to Brocket 
Wilson of BUCKNALL Cordwiner for the term of 7 years. At the expiration of 5 years 
and 3 quarters he absconded and during his absence his father under an 
agreement with his master the said Brocket Wilson that he should pay him the sum 
of nine guineas for his son to be released.

Bucknall Joseph 11-06-1825 SP (born HUTTOFT 1778) Stated that in 1800 he was hired by Mr Joseph Rogerson 
of WADDINGWORTH

  



Burnitt Thomas 12-06-1819 SP (Born HORSINGTON) Father died when he was not more than 2 years old and that 
when he was about the age of 12 years his mother intermarried with John 
Thistlewood of TUPHOLME where he the examinant went to reside That he 
continued to live with Mr Thistlewood until his death and afterwards with his mother 
until about a year and a half ago.

Butters Robert 25-12-1752 SC From chwdn. and Overseer of parish of HEMINGBY acknowledging EB his wife and 
Family to be legally settled in the parish of HEMINGBY

Cade Barnard 14-06-1825 SE (Born BUCKNALL 1821) 5yrs since lst Mayday he was hired by MR John 
Parkinson of ASWARDBY for 1 year

Cammack James 28-12-1822 SE (born CONINGSBY 1799) Previous to Mayday 1818 hired by Charles Fanthorpe of 
TUMBY WOODSIDE for 1 ½ years

Carter Rodger 15-05-1729 SC Chwdn. and Overseer of parish of From KIRKBY SUPER BAIN Acknowledge CR & 
his Wife to be legal inhabitants of the parish of KIRKBY SUPER BAIN.

Cash Edmund 18-11-1815 SE (born STIXWOULD 1780)

Chapman John 21=03-1806 SE  6 years since old Mayday let himself for 1 year to Moses Fox of SOUTHREY

Clayton George 25-10-1806 SE Old Mayday 1802 hired for 1 year to Robert Findar? of WOODHALL. Served 3 
years. 1805 hired for 1 year to John Cooke of WALCOT served him there under 
such hiring until30th April next following and received his wages only up until that 
time when he parted his masters service by consent and then went to WOODHALL 
and married there where he continued about 1 week and then went to reside at the 
parish of HORSINGTON.

Clipson Dinah 28-12-1805 SC From Chwdn. And Overseer of the parish of BAUMBER acknowledging her to be an 
inhabitant legally settled in our said parish of BAUMBER

Clipson Elizabeth 26-12-1835 BB, Bill from M/s Clitherow and son referring to Benjamin Beavin of BARDNEY being 
father of Elizabeth Clipsons Bastard Child.

  



Clipson Jane 18-07-1829 SE (Born HORSINGTON 1807) she has lived in several places as a servant and that at 
Michalmas1826 she was hired to William Higgins of REEVESBY BANK (farmer) 
until Mayday 1827 when she went away, and her clothes were sent by her master to 
HORNCASTLE. Examinant went the next day to HORNCASTL PACK RAG DAY 
and was again hired by her master until the next Mayday and that her master gave 
her 4 days holiday and that she entered upon his service and remained until about 3 
weeks before Mayday 1828 when her Master and she disagreed and both being 
willing dissolved the contract and she left.

Clipson Sophia 03-11-1832 SE (born HORSINGTON 1815) Lived at home with my mother until 15 years old and 
then went into service.  My mother let me the day after Mayday 1830 to Abraham 
Hanson of HORNCASTLE let again the following year.  I was so ill at the time of the 
feast with a sore throat that I could not get to the feast and I had my holidays after 
Christmas instead and was 10 days at home.   I have been so ill this last year that I 
have been incapable of Service.

Clipson John 31-05-1834 SE (born KINGERBY 1796) Settlement of my parents was in the parish of 
HORSINGTON. When I was 12 years of age, I went into farme’rs service.                          
I went in the month of January of February to live with John Eastwood of 
HORSINGTON (farmer).  I served him in that parish the whole of that year and the 2 
following years under yearly hirings.  I then worked as a labourer for a year and a 
half the enlisted into the army for 21years 3 months.  I married when in the Army 
and have not done any act since I left HORSINGTON whereby to gain a settlement.

  



Coleby Dixon 17-12-1832 SE (born LONG BENNINGTON 1802) Parents belonged to ANCASTER where I lived 
until 12 years old.  I then went into farmers service and served my first whole year 
with W Fow in SUDBROOK in parish of ANCASTER. I gained many settlements in 
different places as a farmer’s servant and 5 years ago last HORNCASTLE 
OCTOBER FAIR I let myself to Mr Richardson of STIXWOULD from that time to 
the next Mayday and on the HORNCASTLE STATUTE Day morning previous to 
Mayday I agreed another year with Mr Richardson at the wages of £14 and 5/- for 
a fastening penny.  Nothing was said about Holidays when we bargained, and I 
received the 5/- when Mayday came.  I asked my Master for 3 days 
holiday and he said I might.  I served the whole year and was hired for another year 
and served until about a week after the next midsummer.

Collings Abraham 18-04-1718 IND Putting AC a poor child of the parish Apprentice to John Longstaff of 
HORSINGTON (Yeoman) 

Coo Rachael 02-10-1835 SE (born HORSINGTON) Spinster residing at THORPE ON THE HILL with Henry 
Causebrook of that Parish Farmer. That she has been in his service nearly 2 years.  
She was first hired by him 11 weeks before Mayday 1834 thill the Mayday and then 
hired again for a year until this last Mayday but bargained at the time of hiring that 
she should have a weeks holiday within the year and that for nearly 3 years before 
she entered onto the service of Mr Causebrook she was in the service of William 
Wheatcroft of that parish that for a year previous to her 1st service with Mr 
Wheatcroft she was in service with Mr Benjamin of HAGWORTHINGHAM but 
under a hiring a week after Mayday that year previous to her service a 
HAGWORTHINGHAM she lived with Daniel Jeggs of HORNCASTLE under a 
hiring a fortnight before Mayday but with stipulation that she was to have a wees 
holiday at the Feast.   

 RO dated 02-10-1835 for removal of Rachael Coo from THORPE ON THE HILL

  



Coo William          28-04-1804 SE (Carpenter) 8 years since next Old Mayday he was bound apprentice by Indenture 
to John Barnaby of HOLTON CUM BECKERING for a term of 6 years.

Cooke Joshua 15-01-1821 SE  (Born Timberland 1799) Parents settlement in parish of DUNSTAN.  In year 1824 
and about a week before the Mayday. I let myself to John Elmitt of HORSINGTON 
(Farmer) for a year namely from the then Mayday to Mayday 1825 at the wages of 
£6 6/- after I had bargained for the wages and received my fastening penny my 
master asked me when I should come. I fixed about 1 week and went into his 
service at that time.  I served the whole of that year and previous to the next 
Mayday he hired me again. (1825 – 26)

Cordy Richard 28-12-1822 SE (Born BARDNEY 1800) Mayday1813 he was bound apprentice by indenture to 
John Brown of WALCOTT (Wheelwright) for 7 years and served his full term.

Cordwainer George 07-11-1785 SC From Chwdn. & Overseer of the poor of parish of BARDNEY. Acknowledging GC 
and his wife to be legally settled in BARDNEY for GC and Wife

Croft Harry 19-06-1813 SE (Born MAREHAM LE FEN 1790) Previous to Mayday 1809 he was hired by William 
Carter of BUCKNALL for 1 ½ years

Croft William 31-03-1806 SE 5 years past at Mayday he let himself to Joseph Rogerson of WADDINGWORTH.  
Served 2 years

  



Cummings George 21-11-1811 SE (born ASHBY BY SPILSBY 1779) Previous to May 1806 hired by George 
Whitcham of Sows in the Parish of LUDFORD as a servant in Hand for 1 year. i.e. 
Mayday 1806 to Mayday 1807 served full term and received full wages.  That at 
Ladyday 1809 to a cottage at SIBSEY  for 1 year at the rent of £4 4/- that at old 
Michalmas in the said year in addition to the said rental he took a cottage and about 
21/2 acres in HORSINGTON off Mr Emmett of SAUSTHORPE at the yearly rent  of 
£7  that he entered upon said cottage and land at Old Michalmas aforesaid to reside 
on the same and that he has since continued to reside there and that he also 
continued the occupation of the said cottage at SIBSEY ‘til Ladyday 1810 making a 
clear yearly rental of £11 4/- for the last year. 
In pencil on the bottom:- 
1813 at Lady day he let himself as a confined Labourer for 1 year to Charles White 
of HORNCASTLE.  To live in the HORNCASTLE ALLOTMENT in WILDMOOR FEN.  
Wages House and Garden the milk of a cow where he lived for 4 years. 
(1821-22 received poor rate relief of £1 13/-

Cummings George 29-12-1811 RO Notice of appeal to against the removal of GC Elizabeth his wife William 13, 
Thomas 11, Elizabeth 9, Henry 7, Sarah 4.  From LUDFORD MAGNA to 
HORSINGTON

Cummings Elizabeth 24-01-1835 SE (Wife of George Cummings) 2 years ago last Lady Day my husband went to live as 
a confined labourer wit Mr Charles White of HORNCASTLE (Farmer) He was to 
live on Mr White’s farm in the WILDMOOR FEN PAROCHIAL ALLOTMENT as his 
groundkeeper. He had a house and a small Garden rent Free £26 a year wages the 
milk of 1 cow, the rum of 2 pigs and half the profit of 2 geese, a dozen hens and 4 
ducks which were kept and fed upon Mr White Farm.  My husband served Mr 
White 4 whole years and lived in the same house in Horncastle Fen Allotments and 
enjoyed the same privileges each year.  My Husband never had the profit of more 
than one cow during the 4 years.

  



Dannath Philip 10-11-1776 RO PD a male Bastard Child had lately come to inhabit the parish of MIDDLE RASEN.  
On Examination his mother now Mary Mountsfield saith that the child is chargeable 
to the parish of HORSINGTON

Darwin William 06-04-1733 SC From Chwdn. & Overseer of the poor of parish of EDLINGTON. Acknowledging WD 
as an inhabitant of EDLINGTON 

Daubney Robert 10-05-1725 SC From Chwdn. & Overseer of the poor of parish of NETTLEHAM Acknowledging RD 
his wife and family to be legally settled in Nettleham

Dawson George 10-04-1817 SE (born BUCKNALL 1774) Lived at home with his father until he was 28yers of age 
when his father died.  That after his father died he and his brother occupied a farm 
jointly in BUCKNALL for 7 years at a rent of £90 and upwards.  That at Ladyday 
1813 he entered upon a farm at BRANSTON at the annual rent of £95 or 
thereabouts and occupied the same until Ladyday following during which time he 
resided in BRANSTON 

10-04-1817 RO for GD His wife Rebecca Thomas 9 and Arthur 6 to BRANSTON

Dawson William 13-10-1830 SE (born THORNTON 1795) Lived with parents until about 13 years old and let myself 
as a servant in husbandry.  I was about 6 or 7 years in service in different places.  
About 16 years singe Pack Rag Day at HORNCASTLE Road Statute I let myself to 
Thomas Porter of BUCKNALL (Farmer) as a servant for 1 year and lived with him 2 
years under yearly hirings.  I did not bargain for any holidays in either of the years 
and I left Mr Porter about a fortnight before the Mayday in the last year.

  



Day Mary 27-12-1828 BB Order re female Bastard child born 08-11-1827 at HORSINGTON. Joseph Holmes 
(Schoolmaster) of BELCHFORD father of the child. 
Father to pay £5 for expenses incurred at birth of child and 2/6d weekly.  Mother to 
pay 6d weekly. 

15-12-1832 Doc naming Joseph Holmes (Schoolmster) of BELCHFORD to be 
father of female bastard child born of Mary Day Single woman in the said Parish of 
HORSINGTON. This doc states that Joseph Holmes neglected to pay the sum of 
2/6d weekly and therefor the sum of £3 10/- is owing to the parish of HORSINGTON  
Order that Joseph Holmes must appear before the Magistrate at HORNCASTLE 
on 29-12-1832

Dean Arthur 18-04-1778 SC From Chwdn. & Overseer of the poor of parish of HOLTHAM UPON BAIN. 
Acknowledging AD and his wife and family to be legally settled in HALTHAM UPON 
BAIN.

Drew Thomas 14-07-1735 SC From Chwdn. & Overseer of the poor of parish of MINTING. Acknowledging TD and 
Marg his wife to be legally settled in MINTING

Dennis James 14-06-1817 SE (born KIRKSTEAD 1787) July 1815 he rented house and garden and about 2 roods 
of potato land at WOODHALL for a yearly sum of £6 and occupied the same one 
whole year and that whilst in the occupation of said house and garden and potato 
land he had the agistment of a cow given to him by Richard Elmhurst of 
WADDINGTON for whom he sometimes worked and in lieu of wages for looking 
after his masters cattle.

Drayton Elizabeth 10-11-1827 RO Removed to HAMMERINGHAM

Duckering John 11-07-1807 SE He let himself as a yearly servant to George Bramley of WISPINGTON (Farmer) at 
Mayday 1801 and that he lived 2 years with the said George Bramley. In 1803 he 
let himself as a hired servant to William Bonner of WISPINGTON for 1 year

Eastgate Richard 27-04-1754 SC From Chwdn. & Overseer of the poor of parish of LOW TOYNTON. Acknowledging 
RE and his wife and family to be legally settled in LOW TOYNTON

  



Eastwood John 01-03-1834 SE (Born HORSINGTON 1786) About the month of March 1831 I hired 3 acres of land  
siting in the parish of SCAMBLESBY of Thomas Brader, He was to build me a 
house on the land at the rent of £11 10/- per annum from Mayday -Mayday.  I 
entered onto the land a short time before Mayday 1831 and at that the house being 
finished. I entered into it.  I paid the rent for the year before that Mayday as Brader 
wanted money to build the house with.  I occupied the house and land that year and 
the following 1832-1833 and paid half the second year’s rent at Louth Michalmas 
Fair and the remainder was paid on 10th May 1833 by William Elsey an my 
account. I paid him the same again when I sold my cows.  I was the tenant myself 
the whole time my father did not hire the premises nor was he answerable for the 
rents.  I received a notice to quit at Martinmas 1832 and left the premises at the 
Mayday 1833.

Elvin James 26-10-1822 AFID Stayed as a lodger in home of Thomas Summers of HORSINGTON. 
Anne Scott stayed at Christopher Elvins for 7 days as a lodger.  JE Made an oath 
that he has not attained the age of 21 years also AS.  EJ Married AS.

Elvin William 06-03-1819 SE 
RO

Previous to Mayday 1815 hired by Edward Wells of MAREHAM ON THE HILL. 
Same day RO for WE his wife Ann and Benjamin 2years to go back to MAREHAM 
ON THE HILL

Elvington John 06-02-1741 SC From Chwdn. & Overseer of the poor of parish of LUDBOROUGH. Acknowledging 
AD and his wife and Mary 2yrs, and Richard 1 yr to be legally settled in parish of 
LUDBOROUGH

Everton James 19-12-1829 SE (born EAST KEAL 1809) Parents legally settled in TUPHOLME lived in several 
places in the year 1826 about a fortnight before Mayday I was hired by Joseph 
Mowbray of BARDNEY in the said parts labourer to be his servant for a year.  Lived 
1 year with him

Evison George 06-03-1819 SE (born Conningsby 1799) 1815 hired  by Mr Waterman of WESTVILLE

  



Evison Mark 31-03-1749 SC From Chwdn. & Overseer of the poor of parish of KIRKBY SUPER  BAIN. 
Acknowledging ME labourer and his wife Rebecka to be legally settled in KIRKBY 
SUPER BAIN

Farrow Thomas 12-06-1819 SE (Also known as Thomas the younger) Butcher (born HORSINGTON 1791). 
Sometime in the month of May 1805 apprenticed to Henry Harrison of BARDNEY 
(Butcher) for the term of 5 years.  4 ½ years of which term he served and then 
parted by mutual consent.

  



Fenwick George 06-08-1836 SE (born GREAT STURTON    1811) My father is a carpenter and I remained with him 
and learned the business until I was 16 yrs of age.  In the year 1830 about a week 
before Michalmas I went to Mr Dennis of HORSINGTON carpenter to let myself as a 
journeyman.  I was with him a week on liking for which he paid me 5/- and I then let 
myself to mr Jas Dennis for a year from Michalmas to Michalmas for the wage of 
£11 and he paid me 5/- as a fastening penny.  I served him about ½ year and then I 
served Mr Dennis’s brother who was his partner in trade, the remainder of the year 
at WOODHALL.  Mr James Dennis paid me my full years wage of £11 and before 
the Michalmas 1831 Mr James Dennis hired me again for the next year at the 
wage of £12 plus £1 fastening Penny and I agreed further days holiday.    I did not 
make any agreement for holidays in the first year.  I boarded with lodged with Mr 
Dennis and considered my service to be with James Dennis and went by his 
directions to his brother in WOODHALL.  I slept at WOODHALL the last 6 months of 
both years but I slept the last night of the first year at HORSINGTON with Mr James 
Stovin.  I let myself for a 3rd year to Mr Dennis of WOODHALL without any bargain 
for Holidays.  I was to have 313 wages.  I served my master the whole of that year 
in WOODHALL except the last 9weeks when I ran away and worked for another 
Master but I returned at the end of 9 weeks and served Mr Dennis for 9 weeks and 
2 days to make up my years’ service and my master paid me the whole years 
wages.   I then married and have been generally working as a journeyman for Mr 
Dennis ever since. 

I have never rented a tenement of £10 a year or done……… 
I am now together with my wife Sarah and 2 children Elizabeth 2yrs and William 
10weeks actually chargeable to the parish of HORSINGTON. 

Fisher William 20-08-1829 RO The removal of WF and his wife from ST MICHAEL ON THE MOUNT LINCOLN to 
HORSINGTON

Fixter John 28-04-1827 SE (born WOODHALL 1793) remained at home until 11 years of age .  13years since 
next Mayday he was hired by Mr Joseph Elvin of KIRKSTEAD for 3 1/2 years. 
Then married and worked in different places as labourer.

  



Fox William 25-07-1828 RO Removal order from BARDNEY to HORSINGTON

Froulip Joseph 10-12-1832 SE (born GREETHAM 1807) Parents belong to SCRIVELSBY.  I removed when a child 
of 7 years with my mother to SCRIVELSBY my father being dead.  I lived at 
SCRIVELSBY 4 or 5 years. I then went into service for Mr Brown of MAREHAN LE 
FEN.  I then went to BRACEBRIDGE and lived 3 years in service with Mr George 
Bonner (farmer) I bargained I year for a holiday of 2 days at Christmas.

Grainger Marey 25-05-1765 IND Indenture being an agreement between parishioners of HORSINGTON and William 
Hammersley and his wife Ann Hammersley.  That they will take for the sum of £3 
to keep and maintain and bring up Marey Grainger (Aged about 8 years) 
£3 to be paid in equal payments that is 15/- an Martinmas day next and 15/- on Old 
Mayday next.

Granger Elizabeth 06-06-1768 IND Indenture placing Elizabeth Grainger a poor child of the said Parish Apprentic to 
Edmund Robinson of HORSINGTON Husbandman

Grasham John 25-04-1738 SC From Chwdn. & Overseer of the poor of parish of METHERINGHAM.  
Acknowledging JG to be legally settled in METHERINGHAM

Greenfield Francis 02-07-1831 RO Removal of FG (Labourer) from HORNCASTLE to HORSINGTON

Greenfield John 31-03-1788 SE Stated that old Mayday 1783 being then unmarried he was hired for a year to Ellis 
Rowlands of BAUMBER in the said parts Clerk and served the same and received 
his full years wages for the same.  Then worked as labourer with the said Ellis 
Rowland until June 1784 when he was hired until the mayday by following by Mr 
Woatherhog of REEVESBY where he served until Martinmas 1784. Then was hired 
to serve William Wingate of HAGWORTHINGHAM for half a year and served. Then 
at Mayday 1785 he was hired for a year to Mr Wilson of BAUMBER until the old 
Mayday 

Greenfield Martin 12-04-1739 SC From Chwdn. & Overseer of the poor of parish of TATHWELL. Acknowledging MG 
his wife and family to be legally settled in TATHWELL

  



Greenfield William 06-03-1817 SE (born SOTBY 1787) 20-06-1798 was bound apprentice by indenture to Thomas 
Babbington of BENNIWORTH (Cordwainer) for the term of 7 years which term he 
completed June 1805.

Grefsam Thomas 19-07-1817 SE (born REEVESBY 1767) Sometime previous to Mayday 1870 hired by Samual Hall 
of REEVESBY (Farmer) as his steward  in husbandry for 1 year (left REEVESBY in 
1815/16)

Hardy Thomas 25-10-1806 SE (Carpenter) 5 Years past last Old Mayday he let himself for 1 year to John Barnaby 
of HOLTON LE BECKERING and lately married Elizabeth his wife at HORSINGTON

Hare Benjamin 13-05-1818 SE (born QUARRINGTON 1795) previous to Mayday 1814 he was hired by John Miller 
of BRANSWELL and received his full wages for same. He then intermarried with 
Mary Scott his present wife.

Hanson Elizabeth 3-11-1832 SE Wife of Abraham Hanson of HORNCASTLE.  Examined re Sophie Clipsham of 
HORNCASTLE singlewoman.

Hepplewhite Eleanor 12-02-1830 RO Wife of John Hebblewhite a convict under sentence of transportation removed 
from HORSINGTON to WOODHALL

Hindes Arnell 24-12-1830 RO A H his wife Alice and John Thomas Goddard Hindes age about 1Yr be removed 
from HORSINGTON to HAINTON

Hinds John 17-07-1830 RO From HORSINGTON to BARDNEY

Hines William 20-11-1819 SE (born SIXHILLS 1791) of SOTBY a Private in the 52nd Regt. Of Foot – Previous to 
Mayday 1807 he was hired by Mr John Eastwood of HORSINGTON (farmer) viz 
Mayday 1807 – Mayday 1808 where he lived the whole of that year  and received 
his full wages for same.

Hodgson Thomas 05-05-1703 SC From Chwdn. & Overseer of the poor of parish of St JOHN Newport in the city of 
LINCOLN   Acknowledging TH his wife and child  to be legally settled in St Johns 
Parish.

  



Hodgeson Thomas 22-12-1827 RO TH his wife Harriet and Martha aged 1 yr to BUCKNALL

Holderness Robert 13-07-1816 SE (born HOGSTHORPE 1791)  previous to Mayday 1809 hired by Thomas Harrison 
of BARDNEY (Farmer) and continued for 3 years.

Hotchkin Robert 2-4-1833 RO Appeal against removal from HORSINGTON to STURTON

Hotchkin Robert 26-08-1833 RO Appeal again to be heard 09-07-1833

Hotchkin Robert 04-01-1834 RO RH Elizabeth his wife, John 8yrs, Henry 7yrs, Anne 6 yrs, George 5 yrs, Jane 2yrs,  
and Elizabeth 1 yr removed from HORSINGTON to GOULCEBY

Howden Thomas 28-04-1827 SE (born SPILSBY 1800) Remained at home until 14yrs old then hired Mayday 1814 by 
Mr Thomas Paster of BUCKNALL for 1 yr then by Thomas Carter for the full 3 yrs.

Hurd John 15-09-1839 Order Complaint made by Richard Anderson Mastin of HORSINGTON states that :- 
John Hurd of HORSINGTON aforesaid Labourer did about a year and a half since 
abscond and run away leaving his wife and four Children chargeable to the said 
parish and who yet remain to the great detriment and injury of the said parish of 
HORSINGTON. Command to the Constable of HORSINGTON to apprehend JH

Hurd Mary 16-08-1834 BB Order concerning a male bastard child born in the said parish of HORSINGTON 
13-09-1833.   Father Henry Baker labourer late of BILLINGHAY

Hurd Mary 08-03-1838 SV Public Vestry gave leave to proceed against William Young ye supposed father of 
Mary Hurd’s illegitimate child.

Hurd Richard 25-05-1822 SE (Born LANGWORTH 1783) lived at LANGWORTH until   15 years old when he went 
into service and was hired by John Moses of WRAGBY (farmer) for 1 year then 
John Aisthorpe of STAINFIELD HALL for 1 yr.

Islegate Hezekiah 14-05-1760 SC From Chwdn. & Overseer of the poor of parish of BLYTON Acknowledging HI 
(Wheelwright) and Elizabeth his wife and Elizabeth His daughter 3Years and 
Thomas his son 1 year 3 months to be legally settled in BLYTON

  



Jackson Mary 25-11-1691 RO From HORSINGTON to KIRKSTEAD and then another document stating that Mary 
Jackson belongs to HORSINGTON and should be Conveyed back to 
HORSINGTON.

Jeffrey George 23-10-1805 SE Lived in diverse places as a Farmers Servant.  Mayday 1798 he went to live with 
Samual Thompson of SCRIVELSBY.  Served the same and received full wages.  
That he then married and went to reside at HORSINGTON.

Keeley Thomas 11-02-1805 SE Son of Thomas Kealey late of the parish of ST MARTIN in the city of LINCOLN 
(Blacksmith) 02-06-1778 he bound himself apprentice toby indenture to John 
Dewick of HEMSWELL for 5 years and served him for 5 months when the master 
died and his mistress soon gave him his indenture which he now has in his custody 
uncancelled.

Kent John 23-10-1801 SE Lived in diverse places as a farmers servant that about 12 or 13 years ago he went 
to live with Mrs Elizabeth Baker of TATTERSHALL THORPE as a hired servant for 
1 year.  He then went to reside a HORSINGTON as a lodger with his Father and 
went out labouring stock and that in the spring of the year 1796 his father died and 
he then undertook the management of the little farm his father occupied, for his 
mother, both that he was not hired for a year or in any manner confined to serve his 
mother, but that he taked for himself out of the produce  of the farm as much as 
satisfied him for his trouble.

Kew Mary 03-09-1825 BB 05-08-1825 male child born. Father James Day of SOUTHRY (Labourer) to pay £3 
15/- for and towards reasonable charges and 2/-6d per week.  Mary Kew to pay 6d

Kirk Joseph 24-11-1825 SE (born BAUMBER 1800) when 11 years old his mother married again and he 
removed with his father-in law Thomas Scott to HORSINGTON and lived there 3 
years when he went into farmers service and lived 1 year with John Cadney of 
HIGH TOYNTON then the next year to Abraham Soulby of WEST ASHBY

  



Kirk Mary 05-03-1836 SE (born MARTIN 1813) Parents last legally settled at CONINGSBY.  I have been in  
several places as a servant in Husbandry.  About the year 1827 on Pack rag day I 
went with my mother to Mr Willaim Stones of HORSINGTON to agree for a place 
for the next year.  My Mother let me for the year for the wage of £2 and 1/- fastening 
penny.  Served 1 whole year and received my wages.  I was at home the greater 
part of the next year and let myself a week before Christmas to Mr Sougstaff of 
Hawstead Hall but left him at the Mayday Following.  I then let myself to William 
Marshall of APLEY and left 15 weeks before Mayday and after remaining at home 
for 5 weeks I let myself 10weeks before Mayday to Mr Kirton of ROUGHTON and 
before Mayday came, on the HORNCASTLE STATUTES day morning, my mistress 
asked me to stop again.  We agreed upon the wage and my fastening penny and 2 
days holiday at HALTHAM feast.  Served until Mayday 1834.  

Removal Order dated 12-03-1836 for removal from MARTIN to HORSINGTON for 
Mary Kew and Maris aged 7 weeks her bastard Child. 
Public Vestry 24-03-1836 It was agreed that the order of Mary Kew is not to be 
appealed against.

Lader John 25-11-1815 SE (born MANBY 1792) previous to Mayday 1807 hired by William Fouman of MANBY 
for 1 year.

Laughton Samuel 19-04-1796 SE (Weaver) Son of William Laughton (Taylor) deceased from FRAMPTON in the 
parish of HOLLAND in Lincolnshire.  Lived at FRAMPTON until he was 9 years of 
age then went to reside with his uncle in law William Enderby  of SKEGNESS until 
15 years of age then bound apprentice to John Clarke of WAPLODE (Weaver) for 5 
years.  Served the whole of the said term.  Under certification from the parish of 
CAISTOR in the county of NORTHAMPTON.

  



Lineham Norvis 27-06-1802 SE Mayday in the year 1787 he occupied a farm at SUTTERTON at the yearly rent of 
£52 12/- for 4 years.  That at Mayday 1791 he left the farm at SUTTERTON. About 3 
1/4 years afterwards went to reside in the parish of KIRTON IN HOLLAND where he 
occupied a small cottage and was shepherd to his father in Law Mr Richard Farr 
about 5 or 6 years.

Linsham John 15-04-1734 SC From Chwdn. & Overseer of the poor of parish of COSTOAD in the county of 
LINCOLN. Acknowledging JL labourer and his wife and family to be legally settled in 
COSTOAD?

Longson Charles 17-05-1770 SE (Cuttler) Said that about 12 years since he was bound apprentice by indentures to 
George Smith of PEACROFT in the parish of SHEFFIELD in the county of 
YOTKSHIRE Cutler for 8 years and served the said George Smith there 
accordingly during that time and that at the end of his apprenticeship he received 
his indentures

Low Richard 16-05-1761 SC From Chwdn. & Overseer of the poor of parish of SEDGEBROOKE Acknowledging 
RL, Ann his wife and their 2 children Luke 3Years and Charles 11/2 years to be 
legally settled in SEDGEBROOKE.

Major Francis 10-04-1817 SE (Widow) lived in HORSINGTON for 13 years and occupied a farm there of the 
annual rent of £100.  
Married to Robert Major 24-07-1785 who died in approx. 1803

  



Major Robert 21-12-1833 SE (born WADDINGHAM 1785) Lived with my uncle Thomas Robinson of 
WADDINGHAM until 18 years old when my father Robert Major of HORSINGTON 
(Farmer) died.  I lived 3 or 4 months in Waddingham after my father’s death, he had 
an estate of his own in the parish of WADDINGHAM which I inherited as his eldest 
son, but I never resided upon the Estate.  After my uncle gave up farming I went 
home to my mother Francis Major who occupied a little farm at the rent of £100 per 
year in HORSINGTON and lived with her for 7 years upon the farm. 

14-1- 1834 Order signed by Algernon Massinberd States that:  Robert Major now 
confined in the house of Correction at SPILSBY in the said parts for debt. 

Robert Major married Martha Mitchell 15-05-1815  at the date of the Order they had 
7 children Frances 15 years, Mary 13 years, Anne 11 years, Robert 8 years Thomas 
6 years,  James 3 years and Dennis 6 months. 

The above order also requires Robert Major and family be conveyed from 
HORSINGTON to WADDINGHAM. 

There is a further settlement document dated 16-1-1834 proving Settlement at 
HORSINGTON.

Manby William 18-12-1754 SC From Chwdn. & Overseer of the poor of parish of SKIRBECK in the parts of 
HOLLAND. Acknowledging WM (Blacksmith) to be legally settled in SKIRBECK.

Mapletoft Elizabeth 10-04-1766 BB Stating that the Thursday after Christmas day she was delivered of a male bastard 
child in the parish of HORSINGTON and named John Wilkinson of HORSINGTON 
to be the father of the said bastard child

Marsh Thomas 07-02-1766 SC From Chwdn. & Overseer of the poor of parish of STAINTON BY LANGWORTH. 
Acknowledging TM and Ann his wife to be legally settled in STAINTON BY 
LANGWORTH

  



Marshall John 01-11-1752 SC From Chwdn. & Overseer of the poor of parish of GAYTON LE WOLD 
Acknowledging JM and his wife and family to be legally settled in GAYTON LE 
WOLD

Martindale Willaim 07-01-1720 SC From Chwdn. & Overseer of the poor of parish of LANGTON BY WRAGBY 
Acknowledging WM and his wife Elizabeth to be legally settled in LANGTON BY 
WRAGBY

Massey Eleanor 02-08-1799 RO For the removal of EM being pregnant of a bastard child from HORSINGTON to 
METHERINGHAM

Milner William 18-11-1815 SE (born HALTON HOLGATE 1790) previous to Mayday 1811 hired by Thomas Farr of 
ROUGHTON worked for 1 year.

Moody Joseph 02-09-1826 SE (born THIMBLEBY 1801) at 11 years old went into farmers service and lived in 
different parts for approximately 10 or 11 years.  Then at Martinmas 1882 he went to 
live with Edward Watkinson of HORSINGTOM Farmer for 3 years.

Motley Thomas 01-05-1761 SC From Chwdn. & Overseer of the poor of parish of STICKFORD. Acknowledging TM 
his wifeand Family  to be legally settled in STICKFORD

Mottam Charles 23-10-1721 SC From Chwdn. & Overseer of the poor of parish of SCRIVELSBY.  Acknowledging 
CM his wife Bridget and family  to be legally settled in SCRIVELSBY

Newton William 01-06-1817 SE Stated that about 14 or 15 years since he was hired by Thomas Farrow of 
HORSINGTON

Noble Goerge 01-06-1737 SC From Chwdn. & Overseer of the poor of parish of NORMANBY BY SPITAL. 
Acknowledging GN his wife and Family  to be legally settled in NORMANBYBY 
SPITAL.

Noxton Richard 05-02-1709 SC From Chwdn. & Overseer of the poor of parish of BUCKNALL. Acknowledging RN 
his wife to be legally settled in BUCKNALL.

  



Nundy Thomas 27-03-1762 SC From Chwdn. & Overseer of the poor of parish of MARKET STAINTON 
Acknowledging TN his wife and Family to be legally settled in MARKET STAINTON.

Parker James 14-06-1817 SE (born THIMBLEBY 1782) At about 19 years of age bound apprentice to Edward 
Smith of HORNCASTLE ( Carpenter) for 5 years and served the whole of te term.

Parkes Jackson 14-06-18?? SE (born FIRSBY) is 22 years of age and believes that he has lived in various places as 
a Farmer’s servant and that about 6 years since last August he was hired by Luke 
Harrison of WILKSBY until next Mayday and stayed with the said Luke Harrison 
until that time and was then hired again on Packing day by the said Luke Harrison 
for a year.

Pickwell Thomas 11-02-1805 SE 1790  (15 years since) hired to Robert Broughton of HORNCASTLE (Farmer) and 
served for 11 years.  About 1 Month after old Mayday 1800 I let myself from the 
Michalmas following to Thomas Farrow of HORSINGTON (Farmer) then let hi,self 
by the week to George Farrow of HORSINGTON

Quincy John 02-08-1823 SE (born Southry 1760) He was born in wedlock and his father was a considerable 
farmer and rented a farm in SOUTHRY and lands in NOCTON and BUCKNALL that 
he lived at home with his father until he was 26 years old then rented a farm at £47 
a year in the parish of MAREHAM ON THE HILL for 15 years.  That he returned to 
SOUTHRY and occupied his father’s farm there for 24 years part of the time at £36 
per year and the remainder at £63 and left the farm at Ladyday 1822.

Richardson Robert 14-01-1709 SC From Chwdn. & Overseer of the poor of parish of THIMBLEBY. Acknowledging RR 
to be legally settled in THIMBLEBY.

Robinson Robert 23-10-1805 SE Mayday 1797 he went to live as a journeyman Miller with William Rooks of 
MISTERTON in the county of NOTTINGHAMSHIRE Miller and received a full years 
wages.  The year following he was out of employ after which he came to reside at 
HORSINGTON where he took and entered upon a cottage or tenement with a Corn 
Windmill and other premises at the yearly rent of £35 clear of all land taxes, church 
Poor, constable and other parochial rates (except the performing of one days 
statute work in every year (on the Highways.)

  



Robinson Thomas 02-12-1815 SE (born MIDDLE RASEN 1755) state that 20 years ago he lived and ? upon a cottage 
and about 60 acres of land at WADDINGHAM that he occupied the same about 10 
years at a rent on £30 per annum and resided all that time at WADDINGHAM

Rose William 21-12-1831 SE (born 1801) Never heard where I was born Father died about 4 or 5 years ago .  
About 3 years ago I asked my mother where I belonged and she said ‘’that I did not 
know and that I should not know’’.  She also told me at the same time that my father 
and her were never married and never let himself over 1 year.

Row George 07-1725 SC From Chwdn. & Overseer of the poor of parish of NEWARK UPON TRENT. 
Acknowledging GR his wife and Family to be legally settled in NEWARK UPON 
TRENT.

Rowett William 13-07-1816 SE (born TATTERSHALL THORPE 1784) Mayday 1804 hired by Thomas Dickinson of 
TATTERSHALL for 2 years between Candlemas and Ladyday in the year 1811 he 
hired a tenement and 2 acres of land in the parish of CONINGSBY off Mrs Ann 
Rowett (his Mother) at the rent of £14 per year for 1 year.

Saunderson William 16-11-1778 SE He was born at HORSINGTON and lived with his parents who belonged to said 
parish, until he was 13 years of age when he hired himself to Giles Gilbert (farmer) 
in the said parish for a year and served that time. Short after that time his father 
bound him apprentice to Stephen Alliwell of REEVESBY(cordwainer) for 6 years . 
That he thinks the sum given was 4 guineas.  His indentures were stamped and 
enrolled and that his said master belonged to REEVESBY, that he served more than 
3 years when his master and he differed and he ran away and never returned to his 
master but continued to work up and down the kingdom as a labourer until 1774 
when he hire himself to Abraham Birks of WOODHALL from june until  the Mayday 
following but in October being balloted to serve upon the Militia for the said Parish 
and continued his service only until Martinmas when he hired himself for a half year 
at a time on account of the Militia,  In 1776 he married and hired a room at 
HORSINGTON of 30/- per year and pays no town charges for the same. 

  



Scarborough Mary 02-08-1803 BB Document states that Mary Scarborough, singlewoman, hath declared that she is 
with child and that the said child is likely to be born a bastard and that Thomas 
Danby of LANGTON is the Father. 

Further document refers to the payment of £100 for the upkeep of the child.

Scott James 12-12-1829 RO JS his wife Hannah to be removed from HORSINGTON to HOLTON CUM 
BECKERING.

Scott John 22-12-1811 SE (born HATTON 1885)  Previous to Mayday 1804 he was hired by Oliver Walesby of 
RANBY for 1 year.

Semper John 06-03-1819 SE (born at SAINT JOHNS IN NEWPORT LINCOLN 1791) previous Mayday 1815 was 
hired by Ishamael Espin of BULLINGTON for 1 year

Sharpe Thomas 12-07-1736 SC From Chwdn. & Overseer of the poor of parish of WISPINGTON.  Acknowledging 
TS his wife Elizabeth and Family to be legally settled in WISPINGTON. 
WISPINGTON ordered to pay the sum of 10/- for cost and charg

Shaw Sarah 07-08-1798 BB Stating that John Knight the Younger of HORSINGTON(Farmer) is the father of her 
Bastard child. Paying the parish £100.

Shelock George 05-09-1785 SC From Chwdn. & Overseer of the poor of parish of SOUTH KELDEY ST NICOLAS. 
Acknowledging GS and Ann his wife to be legally settled in SOUTH KELSET ST 
NICOLAS.

Shurd Richard 03-07-1819 SE (born LINWOOD 1781) stated previous to Mayday 1782 he was hired by John 
Dickenson of SCOTHERN.

Sifsing Mary 28-04-1817 BB Declaration under oath that she is pregnant with a child likely to be a bastard.  
Father William Fletcher of MARKET STAINTON

Smith John 21-04-1775 SC From Chwdn. & Overseer of the poor of parish of WADDINGWORTH. 
Acknowledging JS, Ann his wife Elizabeth, Dorothy, Margaret, Phebe, and Joseph 
their Children  to be legally settled in WADDINGWORTH.

  



Snell William 28-11-1740 IND Indenture placing William snell of the parish of HORSINGTON as apprentice to 
Matthew Gostwick.

Stidman Elizabeth 19-07-1740 BB Naming William Swain of TOFT ALS BROTHERTOFT parts of HOLLAND father of 
her bastard child

Stidman Elizabeth 10-10-1740 RO Stating that ES and Elizabeth her daughter were removed from HORNCASTLE to 
HORSINGTON to remain as settled members of that parish and demanding the 
sum of £1 for costs and charges sustained by HORNCASTLE .

Stephenson Sarah 17-04-1790 SC From Chwdn. & Overseer of the poor of parish of STIXWOULD. Acknowledging SS 
to be legally settled in NORMANBY BY SPITAL

Stones Joseph 27-09-1752 SC From Chwdn. & Overseer of the poor of parish of DINNINGTON in the West Riding 
of YORKSHIRE. Acknowledging JS, Elizabeth  his wife and Family  to be legally 
settled in DINNINGTON.

Stovin John 21-06-1785 SC From Chwdn. & Overseer of the poor of parish of MINTING. Acknowledging JS 
(labourer) his wife and Family  to be legally settled in MINTING.

Sutton Thomas 06-04-1815 SE (Born BELCHFORD 1775) Mayday 1813 being at that time a married man he was 
hired by Richard Brackenbury of ASWARDBY (farmer) as a confined labourer for 1 
year, on the following terms.  £26 in money a house and garden , the keep of a cow 
and 2 pigs and a rood of potato land ploughed and prepared for planting by his 
master,  That he supposed the house and garden to have been worth £3 10/- per 
annum and the keeping of the cow £5 4/- per annum after the rate of 3/- per week in 
the summer and 1/- a week in winter the keep of the pig for a year £2 10/- and that 
he resided at ASWARDBY upwards of 2 months. 
  ea 
 8-04-1815 - TS his wife Mary and their children Ann 11 years, Eliza 10 years, Maria 
7 years, Emily 4 years, Luty 1 Year, Lucy under 1 year. removed from 
HORSINGTON to ASWARDBY 

  



Tate William 13-10-1830 SE (born UPTON (Notts) 1809) Born Upton Notts but the settlement of my parents is in 
the parish of HORSINGTON where I came to live when I was about 5 years of age. 
Never been hired.  My father occupied a farm in the Parish of HORSINGTON for the 
last 16 years for which he paid a rent of £90 per annum . which he quited at 
Michaelmas. 1829.

Taylor Benjamin 28-12-1822 SE (born BUTTERWICK 1795) When 12 years of age he was hired about a week after 
Martinmas by William Rhodes of BELTON (Farmer) for 2 years.

Tayler Lucy 06-05-1809 BB Warrant for naming George Burnett late of WOODHALL Father.

Todd John 04-09-1819 SE (born TUPHOLME 1770) Lived with parents until 18 years when he went into 
farmer’s service and lived in various places for about 7 years.  That about the year 
1794 he let himself as a servant in Husbandry to William Baggaley of APLEY for 1 
year that he then Married.

Turnor Charles 30-12-1765 SC From Chwdn. & Overseer of the poor of parish of SALMONBY. Acknowledging CT 
(labourer) to be legally settled in SALMONBY.

Visey William 24-12-1811 SE (born GRASBY 1781) At KEALBY STATUTES about a fortnight vbefore Mayday 
hired by George Nelson Esq of GREAT LIMBER.

Wakefield Elizabeth 14-11-1762 BB Order made by Edward Munk of FRAMPTON to pay £50 to the Churchwarden and 
Overseer of the POOR of HORSINGTON for the care and upkeep of the unborn 
Child.

Wallis Alice 08-01-1825 BB Male Bastard Child born in HORSINGTON Father named as Charles Scuffam 
Farmers Servant in HORSINGTON. 

Charles Scuffam then absconded and there are several entries in the overseers 
book re tracing CS to MAREHAM LE FEN, and BRIGG, arresting him etc. and 
expenses accrued.

  



Watson John 21-02-1811 SE (born KIRKBY UPON BAIN 1764) 24 years ago took a cottage and about 2 ½ acres 
of land at SKIRBECK at the yearly rent of £10 5/- and resided upon the same for 
about 14 years at that rent.  Mr Barnard of BOSTON having purchased the cottage 
and land, raised the rent for the same to £11 11/- and that he occupied the same for 
about 7 years up to Ladyday 1808.  About Candlemas 1808 he went to reside at 
STIXWOULD with his sister Prudence Kent .

Wayet John 06-03-1767 SC From Chwdn. & Overseer of the poor of parish of BAUMBER. Acknowledging JW  
and his wife to be legally settled in BAUMBER.

West John 04-06-1825 SE (born SOUTH SOMERCOTES 1800) hired by William Carter of BUCKNALL

Whitelamb Thomas 13-06-1785 SC From Chwdn. & Overseer of the poor of parish of BAUMBER. Acknowledging TW 
(labourer) his wife and Family  to be legally settled in BAUMBER.

Wiles Sarah 16-02-1828 RO For SW, wife of Robert Wiles of BILLINGHAY, and Anne aged 4 years and Maria 
aged 2 years to be returned to BILLINGHAY  

Wilson Matthew 22-04-1753 SC From Chwdn. & Overseer of the poor of parish of STAINFIELD. Acknowledging MW 
his wife and Family  to be legally settled in STAINFIELD. 

Wise Joseph 10-04-1753 SE (born BOLINBROOK 1753)  stated he was born at BOLINGBROOK where he 
continued until he was about 10 years of age when he was bound a parish 
apprentice to John Tinker of the said parish of BOLINBROOK that he continued 
with his said master until he was about 20 years of age when his master died and 
his mistress set him at liberty and gave him his indentures and that he has not since 
been a yearly hired servant rented £10 a year , served or done anything to gain 
legal settlement , that he has a wife living at HORSINGTON Elizabeth to whom he 
was married about 3 years ago and an infant child called Daniel.

Wright John 19-06-1813 SE (born BOOTBY GRAFFO 1784) States sometime previous to Mayday 1808 hired by 
Philip Bullen of GREETWELL (Farmer) Served for 2 years. Slept in parish of 
BRANSTON except for 3 weeks at Harvest each year when he slept at 
GREETWELL

  



Wright John 18-02-1821 SE (born HORSINGTON 1799) Mayday 1818 hired by MR James Donwhater of 
SOMERSBY worked for 2 years.  
Doc Dated 18-02-1826 requesting return of John Wright to SOMERBY

Wrighton Samual 01-12-1821 SE (born DUNSTON 1799) 1st day of March 1813 he was bound apprentice to William 
Smith of BARDNEY 9 Cordwainer) for 5 years and that he lived the whole of the 
said term with Mr Smith in BARDNEY aforesaid.

Wrighton Samual 01-10-1836 RO For SW Jane his wife, Francis 8 years, Elizabeth 6 years, William 5 years, James 3 
years, and John 3 weeks to BARDNEY

Yarnall Thomas 11-07-1807 SE Let himself as a yearly servant to William Kirkby of WISPINGTON from Mayday 
1803 tp Mayday 1804 and that he lived 3 years with the said William Kirkby and 
received his full wages i.e 1803-1806.

  


